IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER MILLS,

Petitioner.

Case No.: 18-1132 Circuit Court No.: 18-F-82 Mingo County, West Virginia



PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Matthew Brummond Appellate Counsel W.Va. Bar No. 10878 Public Defender Services Appellate Advocacy Division One Players Club Drive, Suite 301 Charleston, WV 25311 (304) 558-3905 Matt.D.Brummond@wv.gov

Counsel for the Petitioner

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

It is a misdemeanor for a felon to possess a firearm unless the prior offense was violent. Then, the possession is a felony. The court below ruled after-the-fact that Petitioner's Kentucky wanton endangerment conviction was violent.

Does the State violate the Due Process Clause's void for vagueness doctrine by making the degree of Petitioner's guilt contingent upon a judicial determination that cannot be known prior to committing the offense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner pleaded guilty to W. Va. Code 61-7-7(b), felon in possession of a firearm, in Mingo County.¹ Per his conditional plea agreement, he appeals the court's order denying his motion to dismiss the indictment.² Whether felon in possession is a misdemeanor or felony depends upon a subjective, after-the-fact judicial determination that is unknowable prior to its commission.

a. Police stopped Petitioner's car and discovered a gun in his possession.

On June 12 2018, a Mingo County Sherriff's deputy stopped Petitioner's car for a traffic violation.³ The officer then investigated Petitioner and his passenger for a weapons complaint reported nearby in Pickletub Hollow.⁴ He removed the occupants from the car, searched, and handcuffed them.⁵

The passenger told the officer that prior to pulling the car over, Petitioner had thrown a firearm from the vehicle.⁶ With the passenger's help, the police found the gun, and matching ammunition in Petitioner's pocket.⁷

- ¹ A.R. 55–57. ² A.R. 54, 55.
- ³ A.R. 6.
- ⁴ A.R. 7.
- ⁵ A.R. 6-7.
- ⁶ A.R. 7. ⁷ Id.

1

b. The State charged Petitioner for aggravated felon in possession of a firearm on the theory that his prior Kentucky wanton endangerment conviction was a "crime of violence against the person of another."

The officer learned that Petitioner had a prior wanton endangerment conviction in Kentucky.⁸ Based on this felony, the State charged Petitioner as being a prohibited person in possession of a firearm.⁹

In West Virginia, whether felon in possession of a firearm is a felony or misdemeanor depends upon the nature of the prior offense. Any prior felony conviction subjects a defendant to simple possession and a misdemeanor jail sentence between ninety days and one year.¹⁰ However, if the prior felony is a "crime of violence against the person of another[,]" then the defendant is guilty of aggravated felon in possession, a felony, that could result in five years imprisonment.¹¹

West Virginia law does not define or enumerate crimes of violence for purposes of the felon in possession statute.¹² Without guidance, the State alleged that the wanton endangerment conviction was a "felony crime of violence against the person of another" and charged Petitioner with aggravated possession.¹³

c. Petitioner moved to dismiss, arguing that the State's felon in possession theory was void for vagueness. The circuit court denied the motion.

Petitioner pleaded not guilty and moved to dismiss the indictment.¹⁴ In part, he argued the phrase "crime of violence against the person of another," used to aggravate his charge to a felony, was unconstitutionally vague under *Johnson v. United States*.¹⁵ He

⁸ A.R. 8-9; see also Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 508.060:

⁽¹⁾ A person is guilty of wanton endangerment in the first degree when, under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life, he wantonly engages in conduct which creates a substantial danger of death or serious physical injury to another person.

⁹ A.R. 43.

¹⁰ W. Va. Code § 61-7-7(a).

¹¹ W. Va. Code § 61-7-7(b).

¹² See W. Va. Code § 61-7-7.

¹³ A.R. 43.

¹⁴ A.R. 45.

¹⁵ See A.R. 47-51; see also Johnson v. U.S., 135 S. Ct. 2551 (2015).

argued that here, as in *Johnson*, the statute requires people to guess at what conduct will subject them to aggravated possession since it depends upon a subjective, after-the-fact judicial analysis.¹⁶

The circuit court denied the motion.¹⁷ The record is silent concerning the specifics of Petitioner's prior wanton endangerment conviction beyond his own candid disclosure to defense counsel that it was a reckless driving incident.¹⁸ The State did not address Petitioner's actual conduct, but posited a bank robbery in which a defendant waves a gun at bystanders as a prototypical wanton endangerment offense.¹⁹

The Court sided with the State and implicitly denied Petitioner's facial challenge.²⁰ It admitted its decision was subjective,²¹ and this ruling necessarily occurred after Petitioner possessed the firearm.²² Petitioner then entered a conditional plea.²³

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner appeals because basic fairness requires that criminal statutes be concrete enough that a person can know—in advance—what conduct they prohibit. The circuit court ruled—after-the-fact—that Petitioner's wanton endangerment conviction qualified him for aggravated felon in possession. This is too vague to be enforceable. Without objective criteria against which to judge one's conduct, it is impossible to know whether owning a firearm will trigger the felony or misdemeanor offense until the trial court makes its ruling. Any ruling necessarily occurs after the alleged unlawful possession. The lower court's decision therefore "... violates the first essential of due process."²⁴

²¹ Id.

¹⁶ A.R. 47-51.

¹⁷ A.R. 27, 54.

¹⁸ A.R. 4.

¹⁹ A.R. 25.

²⁰ A.R. 27, 54.

²² Compare A.R. 54 (hearing date) with A.R. 43 (offense date).

²³ A.R. 31, 37-38, 55, 63.

²⁴ Johnson, 135 S. Ct. at 2557 (quoting Connally v. General Constr. Co., 269 U.S. 385, 391 (1926)).

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

This case presents a question of first impression. Twenty-six West Virginia cases cite to W. Va. Code § 61-7-7, but this Court has never decided, especially in light of *Johnson*, whether the violent felony enhancement is void for vagueness.²⁵

In the absence of guidance, the court below made an after-the-fact ruling that Petitioner's prior offense warranted the aggravated offense. As a result, Petitioner faced the possibility of a felony conviction and five times the maximum sentence he otherwise would have received based upon a factor that, in principle, no one could know prior to his unlawful possession.

Petitioner's conditional plea gives the Court an opportunity to squarely address this issue.²⁶ He therefore requests a Rule 20 argument and a signed opinion declaring the violent crime enhancement for aggravated felon in possession unconstitutionally vague without legislative intervention.

²⁶ State v. Lilly, 194 W. Va. 595, 606–07, 461 S.E.2d 101, 112–13 (1995) (Cleckley, J., concurring) (stating the benefits of conditional pleas); see also Class v. U.S., 138 S. Ct. 798, 803 (2018).

²⁵ In re T.O., 238 W. Va. 455, 796 S.E.2d 564 (2017); State v. Williams, 236 W. Va. 130, 778 S.E.2d 579 (2015); State v. Herbert, 234 W. Va. 576, 767 S.E.2d 471 (2014); Hollinghead v. Childers, 226 W. Va. 714, 704 S.E.2d 714 (2010) (per curiam); State v. Messer, 223 W. Va. 197, 672 S.E.2d 333 (2008) (per curiam); In re Parsons, 218 W. Va. 353, 624 S.E.2d 790 (2005); Rohrbaugh v. State, 216 W. Va. 298, 607 S.E.2d 404 (2004); Perito v. Cty. of Brooke, 215 W. Va. 178, 597 S.E.2d 311 (2004); State v. McCraine, 214 W. Va. 188, 588 S.E.2d 177 (2003) (overruled by State v. Herbert, 234 W. Va. 576, 767 S.E.2d 471 (2014)); State ex rel. Gessler v. Mazzone, 212 W. Va. 368, 572 S.E.2d 891 (2002) (per curiam); State v. Boyd, 209 W. Va. 90, 543 S.E.2d 647 (2000); In re Metheney, 182 W. Va. 722, 391 S.E.2d 635 (1990) (overruled by In re Dailey, 195 W. Va. 330, 465 S.E.2d 601 (1995)); State v. Green, No. 17-0985, 2018 WL 6015833 (W. Va. Nov. 16, 2018) (memorandum decision); State v. Brown, No. 17-0911, 2018 WL 4944193 (W. Va. Oct. 12, 2018) (memorandum decision); State v. Bookheimer, No. 17-0446, 2018 WL 1709107 (W. Va. Apr. 9, 2018) (memorandum decision); State v. DeFrietas, No. 16-0990, 2017 WL 4772873 (W. Va. Oct. 23, 2017) (memorandum decision); State v. Lane, No. 15-0856, 2016 WL 2979770 (W. Va. May 23, 2016) (memorandum decision); In re Call, No. 13-1115, 2015 WL 7628845 (W. Va. Nov. 23, 2015) (memorandum decision); State v. York, No. 13-1265, 2015 WL 1881028 (W. Va. Apr. 23, 2015) (memorandum decision); Prokop v. Francis, No. 13-1203, 2015 WL 508196 (W. Va. Feb. 6, 2015) (memorandum decision); State v. Shamblin, No. 13-1178, 2014 WL 2922804 (W. Va. June 27, 2014) (memorandum decision); State v. Glaspell, No. 12-0685, 2013 WL 3184918 (W. Va. June 24, 2013) (memorandum decision); State v. Stewart, No. 12-0392, 2013 WL 2157814 (W. Va. May 17, 2013) (memorandum decision); In re B.N., No. 12-0657, 2013 WL 1859160 (W. Va. May 3, 2013) (memorandum decision); Jarrell v. Plumley, No. 12-0415, 2013 WL 1707345 (W. Va. Apr. 19, 2013) (memorandum decision).

ARGUMENT

The violence enhancement for aggravated felon in possession is too vague to satisfy the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. It prohibits conduct so indeterminate that it is impossible to know in advance whether an unlawful possession will be a misdemeanor or felony.

"No state shall ... deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law."²⁷ "[T]he Government violates this guarantee by taking away someone's ... liberty ... under a criminal law so vague that it fails to give ordinary people fair notice of the conduct it punishes, or so standardless that it invites arbitrary enforcement."²⁸ "The dividing line between what is lawful and unlawful cannot be left to conjecture ... [a] crime, and the elements constituting it, must be so clearly expressed that the ordinary person can intelligently choose, *in advance*, what course it is lawful for him to pursue."²⁹ A statute that makes it impossible to know in advance what conduct will be criminal, or what the possible penalty could be,³⁰ "... violates the first essential of due process."³¹

The meaning of the felon in possession statute, and moreover whether the phrase "crime of violence against the person of another" is concrete enough to put people on notice, are questions of law that this Court reviews *de novo*. Here, the circuit court applied the same analysis that the United States Supreme Court declared unconstitutionally vague in *State v. Johnson.*³² It therefore erred, and this Court should reverse Petitioner's felony conviction.

²⁷ U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; accord. W. Va. Const. Art. 3, § 10. See also, e.g., U.S. v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 107 (1976) (due process analysis congruent between Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment clauses).

²⁸ Johnson v. U.S., 135 S. Ct. 2551, 2556 (2015) (citing Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357–358 (1983)); Cf. State v. Lane, ____W. Va. ___, S.E.2d ___, (W. Va. No. 17-1066, 2019) (Armstead, J., dissenting) (expressing concern for the arbitrary and inconsistent results of the Court's analysis for crimes of violence).

²⁹ Connally, 269 U.S. at 393 (emphasis added).

³⁰ Johnson, 135 S. Ct. at 2557 (vagueness doctrine applies to definitions, degrees, and sentences for crimes).

³¹ Johnson, 135 S. Ct. at 2557 (quoting Connally, 269 U.S. at 391).

³² Compare id. (describing categorical analysis) with A.R. 27 (imagining victim of ordinary wanton endangerment case).

In *Johnson*, the United States Supreme Court ruled unconstitutional part of a law that enhanced the sentence for the federal felon in possession statute for defendants with three or more prior crimes involving, *inter alia*, "a serious potential risk of physical injury to another."³³ The federal practice had been for courts to envision the "ordinary" conduct involved in the prior offense without regard for the strict elements or underlying facts, and then judge whether that imagined instance involved a risk of harm covered by the statute.³⁴ The Supreme Court ruled this unconstitutionally vague because, in principle, it was impossible to quantify either the degree of risk the legislature meant to target or the risk posed by a subjective, generic crime imagined by the court after-the-fact.³⁵ This indeterminacy made it impossible to know in advance what conduct would subject defendants to enhanced penalties.³⁶

Here, the circuit court conducted this exact same unconstitutional analysis. It did not take any evidence concerning the actual conduct underlying Petitioner's wanton endangerment conviction.³⁷ And it only consulted the Kentucky statute's elements to imagine the generic instance of that crime.³⁸ It even acknowledged its process was subjective.³⁹ Just like its federal counterpart, this analysis involved so much indeterminacy that no one—not the lawyers and certainly not Petitioner—could know whether his prior conviction would subject him to a misdemeanor or a felony until after the judge ruled. As this cannot occur until after the unlawful possession, the enhancement violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

And the circuit court's approach creates the same problems that the Supreme Court identified in *Johnson*. Criminal laws must be definite enough that people can know in

 ³³ See id. at 2555.
³⁴ See id. at 2557.
³⁵ See id. at 2557, 2563.
³⁶ Id.
³⁷ See A.R. 27.
³⁸ Id.
³⁹ Id.

advance what conduct they prohibit. That is impossible with the circuit court's subjective, after-the-fact analysis. First, it leaves an essential element of the crime—which must be knowable in advance—up to the circuit court to determine *after* the defendant has engaged in the putatively unlawful conduct. "This important element cannot be left to conjecture, *or be supplied by either the court or jury*. It is of the very essence of the law itself, and without it the statute is too indefinite and uncertain[.]"⁴⁰

Second, even if it were within the province of trial courts to proscribe conduct in this after-the-fact manner, the governing standards are unclear. The legislature intended to distinguish violent and non-violent felonies.⁴¹ But any crime could lead to violence; how much potential for physical force separates simple from aggravated felon in possession? What guides a court's discretion in imagining a prototypical instance of crime? In West Virginia wanton endangerment requires a gun, fire, or explosives, and Kentucky does not specify any instrumentality. With such an indeterminate range of prohibited conduct, what is an "ordinary case" of wanton endangerment?⁴²

Petitioner can only present these concerns as questions because there are no answers.⁴³ The felon in possession statute's reach is too indeterminate, and piecemeal case law is an unreliable guide.⁴⁴ If anything, West Virginia's felon in possession statute is vaguer than its federal counterpart discussed in *Johnson* because there the Supreme Court had a statutory definition to interpret.⁴⁵ West Virginia law simply creates a status—"any

⁴⁰ Connally, 269 U.S. at 392.

⁴¹ Compare W. Va. Code § 61-7-7(a) with id. at (b).

⁴² See W. Va. Code § 61-7-12; W. Va. Code § 61-2-9c; W. Va. Code § 61-3E-10; Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 508.060.

⁴³ See, e.g., Johnson, 135 S. Ct. at 2557–58 and U.S. v. Capital Traction Co., 34 App. D.C. 592, 596 (D.C. Cir. 1910) (both cases resorting to rhetorical questions to illustrate the uncertainty inherent to unconstitutionally vague criminal laws).

⁴⁴ Compare Johnson, 135 S. Ct. at 2558 ("[T]his Court's repeated attempts and repeated failures to craft a principled and objective standard out of the residual clause confirm its hopeless indeterminacy.") with State v. Lane, _____W. Va. ___, ____S.E.2d ____, (W. Va. No. 17-1066, 2019) (Armstead, J., dissenting) (describing West Virginia's violent crime jurisprudence under the habitual offender act as "an inconsistent hodgepodge[.]").

⁴⁵ See Johnson, 135 S. Ct. at 2555.

person ... [w]ho has been convicted ... of a felony crime of violence"⁴⁶—with no way to know who holds that status until it is too late to inform one's conduct.

Leaving it to courts to guess the violent potential of imagined ordinary cases involves too much indeterminacy to comport with due process.⁴⁷ Without legislation to fix this problem, the violent offender clause for aggravated felon in possession is facially invalid.⁴⁸

CONCLUSION

A felon should be able to walk into a lawyer's office and ask whether obtaining a firearm would be a misdemeanor or a felony. In West Virginia, the only honest answer trained lawyers can give is that they don't know—no one can know, until after the trial court makes a subjective, after-the-fact judgment. Petitioner therefore requests that this Court reverse and remand with instructions for the circuit court to vacate his felony conviction.

Matthew Brummond W. Va. State Bar No. 10878 Appellate Counsel Public Defender Services Appellate Advocacy Division One Players Club Drive, Suite 301 Charleston, W. Va. 25311 Phone: 304-558-3905 Fax: 304-558-1098 Matt.D.Brummond@wv.gov

Counsel for Petitioner