FILE COPY

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

NO. 18-1132

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER MILLS,

Petitioner.



RESPONSE BRIEF

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANDREA NEASE-PROPER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
W.Va. State Bar #: 9354
812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor
Charleston, WV 25301
(304) 558-5830
Fax: (304) 558-5833
Andrea.R.Nease-Proper@wvago.gov
Counsel for Respondent

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When West Virginia Code §61-7-7 is given its plain meaning and construed according to its legislative intent, it does not violate Due Process principles. Importantly, this Court is reluctant to find statutes unconstitutional, and rather than doing so, attempts to ascertain the plain, unambiguous meaning of a statute when possible. In this case, given a plain reading of the statute, West Virginia Code §61-7-7 is not void for vagueness.

Even if the term "crime of violence" is not defined in the statute, this Court has shown the propensity to clarify this term in other contexts. Keeping this and the plain meaning of the statute in mind, West Virginia Code §61-7-7 gives adequate notice to potential violators so as to satisfy any Due Process concerns.

Finally, the Supreme Court of the United States cases relied upon by Petitioner take issue with the term "substantial risk of violence" in the statutory text, which does not appear in this statute. Based on all of these reasons, the sentencing order below should be affirmed.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Pursuant to West Virginia Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure 18(a)(3) and (4), oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the record. This case is appropriate for resolution by memorandum decision.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

The standard of review in this matter has been articulated by this Court as follows:

On the more narrow issue of the circuit court's interpretation and application of W. Va.Code § 61–7–7, we apply a de novo standard of review: "[w]here the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo standard of review." Syl. pt. 1, Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995). Accord Syl. pt. 1, Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep't of West Virginia, 195 W.Va. 573, 466 S.E.2d 424 (1995) ("Interpreting a statute or an administrative rule or regulation presents a purely legal question subject to de novo review.").

Rohrbaugh v. State, 216 W. Va. 298, 302, 607 S.E.2d 404, 408 (2004).

B. When West Virginia Code § 61-7-7 is given its plain meaning and construed according to its legislative intent, it does not violate Due Process principles.

Petitioner argues on appeal that the enhancement for aggravated felon in possession is too vague to satisfy the Due Process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Petitioner was charged under the following provision, in pertinent part:

- § 61-7-7. Persons prohibited from possessing firearms; classifications; right of nonprohibited persons over twenty-one years of age to carry concealed deadly weapons; offenses and penalties; reinstatement of rights to possess; offenses; penalties
- (a) Except as provided in this section, no person shall possess a firearm, as such is defined in section two of this article, who:
- (1) Has been convicted in any court of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year; . . .
- (b) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section, any person:
- (1) Who has been convicted in this state or any other jurisdiction of a felony crime of violence against the person of another or of a felony sexual offense; . . . and who possesses a firearm as such is defined in section two of this article shall be guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be confined in a state correctional facility for not more than five years or fined not more than \$5,000, or both.

W.Va. Code § 61-7-7. Specifically, Petitioner takes issue with the fact his charge was enhanced by subsection (b)(1), because the circuit court found that his predicate felony was "a crime of violence against the person of another." Petitioner's predicate felony conviction was a wanton endangerment, first degree charge under the following statute:

- (1) A person is guilty of wanton endangerment in the first degree when, under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life, he wantonly engages in conduct which creates a substantial danger of death or serious physical injury to another person.
- (2) Wanton endangerment in the first degree is a Class D felony.

Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 508.060. As the circuit court found, under a basic reading of both statutes, the Kentucky wanton endangerment charge is clearly a crime of violence, satisfying the provisions of West Virginia Code § 61-7-7(b)(1).

This Court has issued strict instructions regarding finding a statute unconstitutional, cautioning that it should be done very rarely:

"In considering the constitutionality of a legislative enactment, courts must exercise due restraint, in recognition of the principle of the separation of powers in government among the judicial, legislative and executive branches. Every reasonable construction must be resorted to by the courts in order to sustain constitutionality, and any reasonable doubt must be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of the legislative enactment in question. Courts are not concerned with questions relating to legislative policy. The general powers of the legislature, within constitutional limits, are almost plenary. In considering the constitutionality of an act of the legislature, the negation of legislative power must appear beyond reasonable doubt." Syllabus point 1, State ex rel. Appalachian Power Co. v. Gainer, 149 W.Va. 740, 143 S.E.2d 351 (1965).

Syl. Pt. 4, Rohrbaugh, 216 W. Va. 298, 607 S.E.2d 404 (2004). Furthermore, this Court has repeatedly found that statutes should be read according to their plain meaning and interpreted according to legislative intent. "A statutory provision which is clear and unambiguous and plainly expresses the legislative intent will not be interpreted by the courts but will be given full force and effect." Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Epperly, 135 W. Va. 877, 65 S.E.2d 488 (1951). "Where the

language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, there is no basis for application of rules of statutory construction; but courts must apply the statute according to the legislative intent plainly expressed therein." Syl. Pt. 1, Dunlap v. State Compensation Director, 149 W.Va. 266, 140 S.E.2d 448 (1965). "Courts always endeavor to give effect to the legislative intent, but a statute that is clear and unambiguous will be applied and not construed." Syl. Pt.1, State v. Elder, 152 W.Va. 571, 165 S.E.2d 108 (1968). "Where the language of a statute is free from ambiguity, its plain meaning is to be accepted and applied without resort to interpretation." Syl. Pt. 2, Crockett v. Andrews, 153 W.Va. 714, 172 S.E.2d 384 (1970). "We look first to the statute's language. If the text, given its plain meaning, answers the interpretive question, the language must prevail and further inquiry is foreclosed." Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep't of West Virginia, 195 W.Va. 573, 587, 466 S.E.2d 424, 438 (1995). "The basic and cardinal principle, governing the interpretation and application of a statute, is that the Court should ascertain the intent of the Legislature at the time the statute was enacted, and in the light of the circumstances prevailing at the time of the enactment,' Syl. Pt. 1, Pond Creek Pocahontas Co. v. Alexander, 137 W.Va, 864, 74 S.E.2d 590 (1953)." Leggett v. EOT Prod. Co., 239 W. Va. 264, 267, 800 S.E.2d 850, 853, cert. denied, 138 S. Ct. 472, 199 L. Ed. 2d 358 (2017).

In the present case, it is easy to determine the Legislature's intent in enacting West Virginia Code § 61-7-7—the Legislature intended to keep felons from possessing weapons, and more specifically, to heighten the punishment for felons with a proven propensity for violence when said felons were found with a weapon. "In ascertaining legislative intent, a court should look initially at the language of the involved statutes and, if necessary, the legislative history to determine if the legislature has made a clear expression of its intention to aggregate sentences for related crimes." Syl. Pt. 8, State v. Gill, 187 W. Va. 136, 416 S.E.2d 253 (1992). This Court has

stated, in relation to this very statute, that restricting felons from possessing weapons is valid "to promote the health, safety and welfare of all citizens of this State, provided that the restrictions or regulations imposed do not frustrate the constitutional freedoms guaranteed by article III, section 22 of the West Virginia Constitution, known as the "Right to Keep and Bear Arms Amendment." Syllabus point 4 (in part), *State ex rel. City of Princeton v. Buckner*, 180 W.Va. 457, 377 S.E.2d 139 (1988)." Syl. Pt. 5, in part, *Rohrbaugh*, 216 W. Va. 298, 607 S.E.2d 404.

Petitioner argues that the statute in question is unconstitutional, but this Court has found that "[w]hen the constitutionality of a statute is questioned every reasonable construction of the statute must be resorted to by a court in order to sustain constitutionality, and any doubt must be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of the legislative enactment.' Syllabus point 3, Willis v. O'Brien, 151 W.Va. 628, 153 S.E.2d 178 (1967)." Syl. Pt. 1, Sale ex rel. Sale v. Goldman, 208 W. Va. 186, 539 S.E.2d 446 (2000). 'The primary object in construing a statute is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the Legislature." Syl. Pt. 1, Smith v. State Workmen's Compensation Commissioner, 159 W.Va. 108, 219 S.E.2d 361 (1975). This Court has previously spoken to the legislative intent of this statute from a review of the statute's plain language, stating that "[t]he obvious purpose of W. Va.Code § 61–7–7 is to guard the public safety. We believe the Legislature's method of achieving this goal has been crafted narrowly so as not to offend the Constitution." Perito v. Cty. of Brooke, 215 W. Va. 178, 183, 597 S.E.2d 311, 316 (2004). Notably, this Court has also previously found the statute constitutional in every prior challenge.

In the present case, the circuit court read the statute by its plain, unambiguous meaning. Petitioner was unquestionably a convicted felon. The question here turns on the felony offense used by the prosecution to enhance the sentence under West Virginia Code §61-7-7(b). That

offense, as stated above, was a Kentucky conviction of wanton endangerment. As dictated by West Virginia law, the circuit judge looked at the plain language of the statute, which states that for the felon in possession of a weapon to be enhanced to a felony charge, the predicate felony must have been a "felony crime of violence against the person of another." W.Va. Code § 61-7-7(b)(1). The circuit court then looked to the Kentucky statute describing wanton endangerment as "circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life, he wantonly engages in conduct which creates a substantial danger of death or serious physical injury to another person." Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 508.060. A plain reading of this statute reaches the same conclusion - this is clearly a crime of violence, as the circuit court found. There is no ambiguity in the crime Petitioner plead guilty to in Kentucky - the very statute describes a violent crime. This Court should uphold the circuit court's findings given the plain meaning of both statutes and the reluctance to find easily interpreted statutes unconstitutional.

C. This Court has previously defined violent crimes in the context of other statutes, without finding said statutes unconstitutionally vague.

Although Respondent maintains that the plain meaning of West Virginia Code § 61-7-7(b) is obvious, even if the definition of "violence" is not plain, this Court has previously defined the term in relation to other statutes without finding said statutes unconstitutionally vague. Most recently, this Court reviewed violence or threat of violence in conjunction with West Virginia Code §61-11-18, commonly known as the West Virginia Recidivist Statute. Although the statute does not specify violence or threat of violence, this Court has created a proportionality test in sentencing under the statute. See, Syl. Pt. 7, State v. Beck, 167 W.Va. 830, 286 S.E.2d 234 (1981); State v. Norwood, No. 17-0978, 2019 WL 2332195, at *8 (W. Va. May 30, 2019); State v. Lane, 241 W.Va. 532, 826 S.E.2d 657 (2019). See also, State ex rel. Appleby v. Recht, 213

W.Va. 503, 583 S.E.2d 800 (2002) (finding that a DUI is a crime of violence and that West Virginia Code § 61-11-18 is not void for vagueness). Even though the statute does not address violence at all, this Court has repeatedly addressed the issue without finding the statute unconstitutional.

This Court has also defined violence in the arena of a statute governing defendants who are incompetent to stand trial under West Virginia Code § 27-6A-3(h), without finding the statute void for vagueness for failing to fully define the term. See, Syl. Pt. 5, State v. Riggleman, 238 W.Va. 720, 798 S.E.2d 846 (2017)("Distributing and exhibiting material depicting minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct in violation of West Virginia Code § 61-8C-3 (2014) is a crime that 'involve[s] an act of violence against a person' within the meaning of West Virginia Code § 27-6A-3(h) (2013) because it derives from and is proximately linked to physical, emotional, and psychological harm to children."). Finally, this Court has examined the meaning of "violence against the person" under West Virginia Code § 62-1C-1(b), regarding post-conviction bail. See, State ex rel. Spaulding v. Watt, 188 W.Va. 124, 423 S.E.2d 217 (1992) ("The offense of first degree sexual assault under W.Va.Code, 61-8B-3(a)(2) (1984), involves violence to a person and is, therefore, subject to the provisions of W.Va.Code, 62-1C-1(b) (1983), with regard to post-conviction bail.") Therefore, the failure to define "violence" does not make this statute void for vagueness.

D. The statute provides the requisite notice to satisfy Due Process.

Petitioner also argues that West Virginia Code § 61-7-7 is not "concrete enough to put people on notice." Pet'r. Br. 5. As the Supreme Court of the United States found in *U.S. v. Davis*, a governing body "has to write statutes that give ordinary people fair warning about what the law demands of them." *U.S. v. Davis*, No. 18-431, 2019 WL 2570623 (U.S. June 24, 2019). This

Court has stated the same, finding that "[a] criminal statute must be set out with sufficient definiteness to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice that his contemplated conduct is prohibited by statute and to provide adequate standards for adjudication.' Syllabus point 1, State v. Flinn, 158 W.Va. 111, 208 S.E.2d 538 (1974)." Syl. Pt. 3, Sale ex rel. Sale v. Goldman, 208 W.Va. 186, 539 S.E.2d 446.

First, in the present case, it should have been clear to Petitioner when he pled guilty to wanton endangerment, a crime described as "circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life, he wantonly engages in conduct which creates a substantial danger of death or serious physical injury to another person," that this constituted a crime of violence. Thus, under the specific facts of the case at bar, Petitioner had notice.

This Court has discussed "void for vagueness" in relation to criminal statutes, noting "[g]eneral criminal statutes, not touching on potential rights of individuals in First Amendment or other constitutional areas sensitive to abuse by potential maladministration of a system of justice, are tested for vagueness not only from examining the face of the statute but by considering the statute in the light of the conduct to which it is applied." *State v. Flinn*, 158 W. Va. 111, 119, 208 S.E.2d 538, 543 (1974) (citing *United States v. National Dairy Products Corp.*, 372 U.S. 29, 83 S.Ct. 594, 9 L.Ed.2d 561). Moreover,

There is no satisfactory formula to decide if a statute is so vague as to violate the due process clauses of the State and Federal Constitutions. The basic requirements are that such a statute must be couched in such language so as to notify a potential offender of a criminal provision as to what he should avoid doing in order to ascertain if he has violated the offense provided and it may be couched in general language.

State v. Bull, 204 W. Va. 255, 262, 512 S.E.2d 177, 184 (1998) (citing Syl. Pt. 1, State ex rel. Myers v. Wood, 154 W.Va. 431, 175 S.E.2d 637 (1970)). In the case at bar, the statute is

sufficiently definite to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice that his or her contemplated conduct is prohibited by statute. First, anyone convicted of a felony must not possess a firearm. Second, if the crime was violent in nature, which has been defined over and over by this Court without finding the statutes void for vagueness, as discussed above, then the crime is elevated to a felony. The Legislature is not required to lay out each and every crime which would elevate the felon in possession charge from a misdemeanor to a felony, but rather only "notify a potential offender. . . as to what he should avoid doing." *Id.* In the present case, this was simple. Petitioner was not to possess a gun, and as at least one of his lengthy criminal convictions was violent, his crime was properly elevated to a felony charge. The circuit court's sentencing order should be affirmed.

E. West Virginia Code § 61-7-7 can be differentiated from both Johnson v. U.S. and U.S. v. Davis.

Petitioner's argument centers on *Johnson v. U.S.*, 576 U.S. ____, 135 S.Ct. 2551, 192 L.Ed.2d 569 (2015), and, in a follow up memoranda, *U.S. v. Davis*, No. 18-431, 2019 WL 2570623. Petitioner argues that *Johnson* applies to this case and strikes down the same analysis used herein. *Johnson*, however, can be differentiated from the case at bar.

To begin, the Johnson Court examined a statute somewhat similar to the one at issue here, the Armed Career Criminal Act of 1984, wherein a defendant convicted of being a felon in possession of a firearm faces more severe punishment if he has three or more previous convictions for a "violent felony," a term defined to include any felony that "involves conduct that presents a serious potential risk of physical injury to another." 18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(2)(B). Johnson, 576 U.S. __, 135 S. Ct. at 2555, 192 L. Ed. 2d 569. Basically, the statute is a combination of a felon in possession statute and a recidivist statute. The portion of the statute at issue is referred to as the "residual clause." Id. at __, 135 S.Ct. at 2556, 192 L.Ed. __. The Court

found that the provision therein required judges to use a form of what the Supreme Court of the United States has called "categorical approach" to determine whether an offense qualified as a violent felony - disregarding how the defendant actually committed his crime - and required a court to imagine the "ordinary case" to determine whether a serious potential risk of physical injury to another" occurred. *Johnson*, supra.

However, portions of the Johnson opinion are important to examine in light of the case at bar. The Government argued in Johnson that holding the instant clause unconstitutional would put a vast number of statutes at risk of being deemed likewise unconstitutional, but the Johnson Court pointed out that "[a]lmost none of the cited laws links a phrase such as "substantial risk" to a confusing list of examples," showing that this specific turn of phrase was important in the Court's analysis of this statute. Johnson, 576 U.S. at ___, 135 S. Ct. at 2561, 192 L. Ed. 2d at ___. This term is not used in the West Virginia statute. Rather, West Virginia Code § 61-7-7(b) uses "a crime of violence against the person of another." This is a much more definitive statement. Indeed, even the Supreme Court of the United States, in Justice Thomas's concurrence, has noted that the terms "violent felony" are not unconstitutionally vague and has shown a propensity to define whether a crime is "violent" or not without that term being specifically defined using specific crimes. In fact, Justice Thomas specifically mentions the portion of the statute noting that a violent felony concerns "use, attempted use, or threatened use of physical force against the person of another" and that the case herein presents a fact pattern, specifically the arrest for possession of a sawed off shotgun, that does not meet this definition. Johnson, 576 U.S. at __, 135 S. Ct. at 2564, 192 L. Ed. 2d 569 (J. Thomas, concurring). Thus, the wording in West Virginia Code § 61-7-7 does not meet the Johnson definition of unconstitutionally vague and the statute should not be found to be void for vagueness.

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